

# A **GENCY MEDICINE PRA**

AN EVIDENCE-BASED APPROACH TO PEDIATRIC EMERGENCY MEDICINE 🛦 EBMEDICINE.NET

# **Ketamine: Pediatric Procedural Sedation In** The Emergency Department

You are in the middle of a busy evening shift, and there are 2 children in the ED awaiting procedural sedation. One patient is waiting for fracture reduction by the orthopedic surgeon. The other has a complex laceration of the vermilion border of the lip. The waiting room is starting to fill up with more patients checking in at triage, and you see there are several more patients in the waiting room that may require sedation for fracture reductions, lumbar punctures, and abscess incision and drainage. You realize that time is of the essence, and you approach the 2 patients and start to plan for the safest, most-efficient, effective sedation.

Patient 1 is a 6-year-old boy with a right forearm injury sustained when he fell off a trampoline and landed on his outstretched hand. No head injury is reported. The examination is notable for an angulated deformity of his right forearm which is confirmed on x-rays as a midshaft radius and ulnar fracture, but no findings are suggestive of intracranial or intraocular injuries. This child is in significant pain, and his parents are urging that some medication be given. He last ate 4 hours ago and last had liquid 2 hours ago. He has a history of mild intermittent asthma but with no recent exacerbations or hospitalizations. The patient has no prior surgeries, sedations, or known drug allergies.

- What sedative agent would be the most efficient and effective (from start to recovery) for this patient?
- What are the contraindications?
- Would giving narcotics for analgesia lead to complications during his later sedation?

# **January 2011** Volume 8. Number 1

#### **Author**

#### P. Jamil Madati, MD

Assistant Professor, University of California San Diego School Of Medicine, San Diego, CA

#### Peer Reviewers

**Baruch Krauss, MD** 

Attending, Division of Emergency Medicine, Children's Hospital Boston; Associate Professor of Pediatrics, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA

#### Jan Luhmann, MD

Instructor, Pediatrics, Division of Pediatric Emergency Medicine St. Louis Children's Hospital, St. Louis, MO

#### Alfred Sacchetti, MD

Associate Director Emergency Services, Our Lady of Lourdes Medical Center, Camden, NJ

#### **CME Objectives**

Upon completion of this article, you should be able to:

- 1. Cite the appropriate ketamine dosing for its various routes of administration.
- 2. Cite ketamine's more common and dangerous side effects. and manage these complications should they arise.
- 3. Cite the absolute and relative contraindications to ketamine use in patients.
- 4. Cite the benefits and drawbacks of ketamine and when to coadminister medications (eg, atropine, glycopyrrolate, midazolam, ondansetron and propofol).

Date of original release: January 1, 2011 Date of most recent review: December 10, 2010 Termination date: January 1, 2014 Medium: Print and Online

Method of participation: Print or online answer form and evaluation Prior to beginning this activity, see "Physician CME Information" on back page.

# Assistant Professor, Director Undergraduate and Emergency Simulation, Mount Sinai School of

Medicine, New York, NY Adam Vella, MD, FAAP Assistant Professor of Emergency Medicine, Director Of Pediatric Emergency Medicine, Mount Sinai

School of Medicine, New York, NY Michael Witt, MD, MPH, FACEP,

Medical Director, Pediatric Emergency Medicine, Elliot Hospital Manchester, NH

#### Research Editor

Fellow, Pediatric Emergency Medicine, Mt. Sinai School of Medicine, New York, NY

Alson S. Inaba, MD, FAAP, PALS-NF Brent R. King, MD, FACEP, FAAP, FAAEM Michael J. Gerardi, MD, FAAP, Christopher Strother, MD **AAP Sponsor** FACEP Martin I. Herman, MD, FAAP, FACEP Professor of Pediatrics, UT College Clinical Assistant Professor of Pediatric Emergency Medicine Professor of Emergency Medicine Medicine, University of Medicine Attending Physician, Kapiolani and Pediatrics; Chairman, of Medicine, Assistant Director of Emergency Services, Lebonheur and Dentistry of New Jersey; Director, Pediatric Emergency Department of Emergency Medicine, The University of Texas Houston Medical Center for Women & Children; Associate Professor of Children's Medical Center. Medicine, Children's Medical Pediatrics, University of Hawaii Medical School, Houston, TX Memphis, TN Center, Atlantic Health System; Department of Emergency John A. Burns School of Medicine Honolulu, HI; Pediatric Advanced Robert Luten, MD **Editorial Board** Professor, Pediatrics and Medicine, Morristown Memorial Hospital, Morristown, NJ Life Support National Faculty Emergency Medicine, University of Florida, Jacksonville, FL Jeffrev R. Avner, MD. FAAP Representative, American Heart Professor of Clinical Pediatrics Association, Hawaii and Pacific Ran D. Goldman, MD and Chief of Pediatric Emergency Ghazala Q. Sharieff, MD, FAAP, FAAP Island Region Associate Professor, Department Medicine, Albert Einstein College FACEP, FAAEM of Pediatrics, University of Toronto; Division of Pediatric Emergency Andy Jagoda, MD, FACEP of Medicine, Children's Hospital at Associate Clinical Professor. Children's Professor and Chair, Department of Emergency Medicine, Mount Montefiore, Bronx, NY Hospital and Health Center/University Medicine and Clinical Pharmacology of California, San Diego; Director T. Kent Denmark, MD, FAAP, FACEP and Toxicology, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON Sinai School of Medicine; Medical Director, Mount Sinai Hospital, of Pediatric Emergency Medicine Medical Director, Medical Simulation California Emergency Physicians, San Center; Associate Professor of V. Matt Laurich, MD New York, NY Mark A. Hostetler, MD, MPH Clinical Diego, CA Emergency Medicine and Pediatrics, Loma Linda University Medical Professor of Pediatrics and Tommy Y. Kim, MD, FAAP Gary R. Strange, MD, MA, FACEP Emergency Medicine, University Assistant Professor of Emergency Center and Children's Hospital, Professor and Head, Department of Arizona Children's Hospital Medicine and Pediatrics, Loma Loma Linda, CA of Emergency Medicine, University Division of Emergency Medicine Linda Medical Center and of Illinois, Chicago, IL Children's Hospital, Loma Linda, CA Phoenix, AZ

Accreditation: EB Medicine is accredited by the ACCME to provide continuing medical education for physicians. Faculty Disclosure: Dr. Madati, Dr. Krauss, Dr. Luhmann, Dr. Sachetti, and their related parties report no significant financial interest or other relationship with the manufacturer(s) of any commercial product(s) discussed in this educational presentation. **Commercial Support:** This issue of *Pediatric Emergency Medicine Practice* did not receive any commercial support. Patient 2 is a 2-year-old girl with a complex (jagged and deep) laceration through the vermillion border of her lower lip, sustained when she tripped and fell, cutting her lip on the edge of a coffee table. There was no loss of consciousness and no dental trauma. She last ate and drank 2 hours ago. Past medical and surgical history is noncontributory. The family is requesting that a plastic surgeon perform the repair, and Plastic Surgery requests that procedural sedation be used during laceration repairs.

- Is it safe to perform procedural sedation on a patient who has been 2 hours NPO for both solids and liquids?
- Should atropine be used in conjunction with ketamine to limit excessive salivary secretions during the procedure?
- Should this patient be considered as having a head injury and would this be a contraindication to ketamine use in this patient?

It is not uncommon for pediatric patients who have sustained injuries to be scared and in pain when they present to the Emergency Department (ED). Children often find it difficult to hold still or cooperate for painful and invasive procedures required to evaluate and treat their injuries because of their developmental stage. Procedural sedation has now become an integral part of the ED clinician's practice because it is necessary to correctly and safely position the patient, provide analgesia, and limit distress.

Sedation is often required to facilitate patient cooperation during imaging studies or during painful procedures such as fracture reductions, abscess incision and drainage, lumbar puncture, or complex laceration repairs. Parents and clinicians wish to avoid causing excessive pain or distress to the child. The clinician's need to provide compassionate care is combined with the need to deliver both safe and efficient care. The ideal sedative agent should have a favorable safety profile, be quick and easy to administer, be easily reversible, provide an adequate length and depth of sedation, and result in a relatively quick recovery to baseline.

# **Table Of Contents**

Critical Appraisal Of The Literature	2
Ketamine Characteristics	3
Prehospital Care	8
Emergency Department Evaluation	9
Special Circumstances	10
Controversies/Cutting Edge	11
Disposition	11
Summary	12
Case Conclusion	12
References	12
CME Questions	16

Over the past 2 to 3 decades, several agents, used either alone or in combination, have met many of these specific requirements. Ketamine has emerged as one of the more commonly used agents in community and academic EDs both in the United States and abroad.<sup>1-7</sup> The reasons for this include its ease of use, brief onset and duration of action, and relative low rate of cardiopulmonary complications, as well as its ability to provide both analgesia and sedation for pediatric patients.

Several organizations, most notably the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and the American College of Emergency Physicians (ACEP), have published policy statements and practice guidelines outlining the requirements for practicing safe pediatric procedural sedation in an ED.<sup>8-10</sup> (See Table 1.) In particular, ACEP's policy statement takes a critical look at the existing literature to draw conclusions about the safe and effective use of ketamine and other sedative medications in ED settings. In addition to these guidelines, Green and Krauss published an evidence-based clinical practice guideline specifically for ketamine and its use in pediatric procedural sedation.<sup>11</sup>

This issue of Pediatric Emergency Medicine Practice takes a critical look at the recent literature on the safe and effective use of ketamine for pediatric procedural sedation in the ED. Specifically, this review will focus on safety and efficacy when ketamine is used either as a single agent or in conjunction with other medications for procedures commonly performed in the ED setting. We will also cover ketamine's commonly cited indications and contraindications as well as the commonly reported adverse events associated with its use and how to manage these complications. Finally, we will discuss some of the current controversies that surround ketamine and its new and future applications, particularly in the prehospital setting. We'll briefly touch on the future directions of research regarding ketamine use in the ED setting.

### **Critical Appraisal Of The Literature**

An extensive literature search was performed in the PubMed database using multiple combinations of the search terms ketamine, procedural sedation, pediatrics, emergency department, and side effects. Those articles relevant to the practice of emergency medicine were selected, reviewed, and included in the bibliography, as were citations that appeared in review articles, clinical practice guidelines, and policy statements. Over 500 articles were reviewed, 108 of which are cited herein. Because the use of ketamine in pediatric emergency medicine has increased substantially over the past 20 years, emphasis was placed on reviewing reports and studies from 1990 to the present.

### **Ketamine Characteristics**

#### Early History And Use Of Ketamine

Ketamine, formerly known as investigational drug CI-581 and now marketed as Ketalar®, is a phencyclidine derivative, first isolated in 1962 by Dr. Calvin Stevens for Parke, Davis and Company.<sup>12</sup> Its discovery was fueled by research efforts to replace phencyclidine with a compound that had equivalent analgesic and sedative effects but fewer psychotropic effects (eg, delirium, hallucinations, confusion). Ketamine is classified as a dissociative anesthetic with potent analgesic and sedative effects. Unlike most sedative medications, it does not exhibit the typical dose-response continuum (ie, once the dissociative state is reached, administering more ketamine does not result in deeper, more profound sedation).<sup>11</sup> Unlike narcotics and benzodiazepines, there is no known agent that can be used to reverse ketamine's effects.

Because of ketamine's sedative and analgesic properties and ease of administration, with minimal cardiopulmonary side effects, this drug has been used extensively in veterinary medicine. It is also a recreational drug of abuse. The most commonly noted side effects include emesis, emergence reactions, laryngospasm, apnea, respiratory depression, nystagmus, muscle rigidity, tachycardia, hypertension, and a transient erythematous upper-torso rash.<sup>13</sup> In earlier case series and reports, ketamine use was associated with increased intraocular and intracranial pressure.<sup>14-17</sup> However, some recent studies on anesthetized patients have called into question these "established" side effects.<sup>11,18-22</sup>

After its discovery, subsequent investigations of ketamine and its use in humans began to appear in the literature in the late 1960s and early 1970s.<sup>23-30</sup> As its use became more common both for veterinary indications and in clinical anesthesia, studies elucidating appropriate dosing regimens and various administration routes were reported. The now widely accepted regimen for providing adequate sedation and analgesia in the majority of patients who require procedural sedation in the ED is an initial dose of 0.5 to 2.0 mg/kg of ketamine, followed by incremental doses of 0.5 to 1.0 mg/kg intravenously (IV) or 4.0 to 5.0 mg/kg intramuscularly (IM), followed by additional 2 to 4 mg/kg IM incremental dosing as needed.<sup>11,31-35</sup> Although this dosing schedule achieves adequate levels of sedation for a significant majority of patients, several studies also note that increasing clearance occurs with decreasing age, necessitating more repeat dosing in the younger patient.<sup>31,32</sup> To maintain anesthesia during prolonged procedures, a 1-mg/kg bolus of ketamine can be followed by a continuous infusion at a dose of 10 to 20 mcg/kg/min.<sup>36</sup>

Numerous subsequent studies have since concluded that ketamine can be safely used in the ED when administered by a clinician who can competently recognize and manage acute airway compromise and when the appropriate monitoring equipment is available.<sup>1,5-7,35,37-48</sup>

#### **Routes Of Administration**

A number of articles have compared the efficacy and benefits of IM versus IV ketamine.41-43,49-52 The most notable study was a prospective, randomized, controlled trial comparing these 2 routes in patients with orthopedic injuries who presented to a tertiary care pediatric ED.<sup>50</sup> The study involved 208 patients given either 1 mg/kg IV or 4 mg/kg IM of ketamine. Adverse events (ie, apnea, laryngospasm, desaturations < 90%, and vomiting), efficacy of sedation, and recovery time between the two groups were compared. Although there was no significant difference in the rates of adverse respiratory events, patients who received IM ketamine had an increased rate of emesis. The other major finding was a statistically significant difference in the length of sedation (ie, between the time of ketamine administration and the time when discharge criteria were met)-129 minutes with IM ketamine versus 80 minutes with IV ketamine. The authors concluded that IV ketamine is similar to IM ketamine in terms of efficacy and safety, but IV ketamine results in a faster recovery time.

Year	Policy or Guideline	Reference
2006	Guidelines for Monitoring and Management of Pediatric Patients During and After Sedation for Diagnostic and Therapeutic Procedures: An Update	Coté et al, American Academy of Pediatrics <sup>8</sup>
2005	Clinical Policy: Procedural Sedation and Analgesia in the Emergency Department	Godwin et al, American College of Emergency Physicians <sup>9</sup>
2004	Clinical Policy: Evidence-Based Approach to Pharmacologic Agents Used in Pediatric Sedation and Analgesia in the Emergency Department	Mace et al, American College of Emergency Physicians <sup>10</sup>
2004	Clinical Practice Guideline for Emergency Department Ketamine Dissociative Sedation in Children	Green and Krauss <sup>11</sup>

#### Table 1. Requirements For Safe Pediatric Procedural Sedation in The ED

#### **Ketamine Versus Other Sedative Agents**

Multiple studies have compared the efficacy of ketamine with that of other agents used for procedural sedation in the pediatric ED setting.<sup>3,40,53-56</sup> The combination of ketamine/midazolam appears to fare favorably when compared with other agents such as fentanyl/midazolam or propofol/fentanyl.<sup>3,40,54</sup> In one prospective study, Kennedy et al compared ketamine/midazolam and fentanyl/midazolam, with efficacy being the primary outcome measure.<sup>40</sup> Results were recorded by blinded observers who watched videotapes of the sedation and assessed the findings with the use of the Observational Scale of Behavioral Distress-Revised (OSBD-r). Parental satisfaction, fracture reduction success rates, adverse effects, and length of sedation were also recorded. Subjects in the ketamine/midazolam group had lower OSBD-r scores (ie, less distress), less parental anxiety, and less respiratory depression but more emesis after sedation and a longer period of sedation.

Similarly, Godambe et al compared ketamine/ midazolam versus propofol/fentanyl using the same OSBD-r scale.<sup>54</sup> The stated primary outcomes were no difference in recovery time between the 2 regimens and no difference in procedure-related distress. While the propofol/fentanyl combination was associated with shorter recovery times (and shorter total sedation times), it was also associated with significantly higher procedure-related stress scores (although the clinical significance of this difference is most likely negligible). Both groups had similar fracture reduction success rates.

Both these studies highlight the benefit of ketamine in terms of its ability to minimize procedurerelated distress and the relatively low number of adverse respiratory events. Conversely, the drawbacks of ketamine include a relatively longer recovery time and increased incidence of post sedation emesis.

#### **Complications, Side Effects, And Safety**

As mentioned earlier, some of ketamine's welldocumented complications and side effects include emergence reactions, post sedation nausea and emesis, and excessive salivary secretions leading to adverse respiratory events. Recent articles have focused on attempting to improve the safety and efficacy of ketamine by identifying risk factors for complications in certain populations or decreasing some of these known side effects.<sup>57-59</sup> These studies investigated the benefit of adding other medications, such as midazolam (to decrease the occurrence of emergence reaction),<sup>57,60,61</sup> atropine or glycopyrrolate (to decrease salivary secretions),<sup>52,62-64</sup> or ondansetron (to decease post sedation emesis).65,66 They also studied using smaller doses of ketamine to produce similar sedative and analgesic effects<sup>32,67</sup> and combining lower doses of ketamine with other agents (eg, propofol) to shorten the time to recovery.<sup>68-71</sup>

#### **Indications And Contraindications**

Ketamine's unique ability to provide rapid and reliable sedation, analgesia, and amnesia, with minimal respiratory or cardiovascular compromise, makes it an ideal agent for a majority of procedures performed in the pediatric ED. Ketamine has been used for short and usually painful procedures during which the patient needs to be immobilized. (See Table 2.)

The anesthesiology literature is replete with instances of ketamine used as an adjunct to other anesthetic agents for minor obstetric, gastroenterologic, and cardiothoracic procedures, as well as for postoperative pain management. A discussion of these indications is beyond the scope of this review. In contrast, while ketamine can be used for radiological studies such as comuted tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), it may not be the agent of choice in these situations because of the hypertonicity and semi-purposeful movements often exhibited by patients who have received ketamine. Furthermore, procedures such as CTs or MRIs are typically not painful and therefore do not require the analgesic properties of ketamine. In these situations, clinicians might be better served using agents that will sedate the patient and thus prevent the patient from moving but do not necessarily provide any analagesia. Agents such as propofol or pentobarbital have been used with great effect for such procedures.

Contraindications to ketamine can be divided into 2 categories: absolute and relative. Two commonly cited absolute contradindications are age under 3 months and history of overt psychosis.<sup>17,72</sup> The absolute contraindication recommendation for infants under the age of 3 is due to the increased risk of airway compromise in this infant population as well as recent animal studies implicating ketamine in neuronal degeneration within the developing brain.<sup>73</sup> While there are several studies in the literature that have looked at the safety and efficacy of ketamine in ventilated neonates undergoing cardiac catheterization and other minor surgical procedures,

#### Table 2. Common ED Uses For Ketamine In the ED Other Indications Genitourinary examination Lacerations Reduction of orthopedic under anesthesia fractures and disloca-Paraphimosis reduction Foreign body removal tions Abscess incision and Tube thoracostomy drainage Prehospital extrication pro-Burn debridement cedures or analgesia Lumbar puncture Rapid-sequence intuba-Bone marrow aspiration tion Dental procedures Treatment of status asth-Central line placement maticus

there is still a lack of studies that elucidate what effect ketamine has on the immature brain.<sup>108</sup> For these reasons, ketamine use in children less than 3 months should be approached with caution. Similarly, ketamine has been shown to exacerbate psychosis in adult patients with underlying psychiatric disease.74 Relative contraindications cited in the literature include procedures that involve stimulation of the posterior oropharynx (increasing the risk of precipitating laryngospasm); underlying cardiovascular disease, such as poorly controlled hypertension, unstable angina or coronary artery disease, and heart failure (since ketamine's sympathomimetic properties can lead to myocardial infarction or exacerbate heart failure); a history of porphyria or thyroid disorders (since, again, its sympathomimetic properties can exacerbate underlying disease); and age between 3 months and 12 months.<sup>11,35,36,72</sup>

The more controversial and hotly debated relative contraindication to ketamine involves patients with head injuries who have increased intracranial pressure or altered cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) dynamics (eg, intracranial mass, hydrocephalus) and increased intraocular pressure or acute globe injury. Both of these relative contraindications are derived from early studies in which increased intracranial and intraocular pressures were noted in patients who were given ketamine, but more recent studies may belie this conclusion. (See Increased Intracranial And Intraocular Pressures section on page 6.)

Finally, as with other sedative agents, any history of severe reactions to ketamine or airway instability or tracheal anomalies also represent relative contraindications to the use of this drug because of the obvious increased risk of adverse reactions.

#### **Emergence Reactions**

Emergence reactions (also known as recovery reactions or emergence delirium) are a well-documented side effect of ketamine procedural sedation.<sup>11</sup> The constellation of symptoms typically described in emergence reactions includes increased agitation or restlessness, dysphoria or euphoria, active dreaming or nightmares, and overt hallucinations.<sup>36</sup> In a large meta-analysis that included 8282 pediatric patients, 7.6% of patients had recovery reactions (1.4% of which were deemed to be clinically important).57 In comparison, the incidence of emergence reactions in similar studies in adults has been reported to be as high as 30%, leading to fear about the frequent use of ketamine in the adult population.<sup>72</sup> Other risk factors for emergence reactions include age > 16 years, female gender, larger doses of ketamine (> 2 mg/kg IV), and rapid IV administration (> 40 mg/min). Benzodiazepines (initially diazepam, but more recently midazolam) have been used in titrated increments to control emergence reactions when they occur. Multiple studies have looked at the

co-administration of midazolam and ketamine, but based on 2 randomized, controlled trials, this approach appears to add no benefit in preventing emergence reactions.<sup>60,61</sup> The previously mentioned meta-analysis also showed no apparent decrease in post sedation emergence reactions with adjunctive midazolam. It did show that adding midazolam increased the risk of adverse respiratory events (primarily apnea) and, conversely, decreased the risk of post sedation emesis.<sup>57</sup>

A few early studies reported that emergence reactions can be diminished by decreasing the amount of environmental stimuli before ketamine induction and/or during recovery from ketamine sedation.35,75 To date, however, no controlled studies have shown that low-stimulation environments after sedation are beneficial in preventing emergence reactions. One recent study in adults included a psychologic intervention whereby patients who were to receive ketamine were interviewed in the preoperative area and were assured that the medication was safe and would provide complete analgesia during the procedure. Patients were told that the anesthetic medication would allow them to dream about a topic of their choice and were instructed to concentrate on that pleasant thought/dream during induction of anesthesia. They were also encouraged to share their thoughts and feelings before undergoing ketamine sedation. Ambient operating room and recovery room stimuli was also minimized (eg, surgeons and nurses were asked to whisper in the OR and recovery room, with minimal entering and disruption by OR staff). After the procedure, none of the patients reported unpleasant hallucinations or reactions, and all said they would be willing to receive the anesthetic agent again.76

#### **Excessive Salivation**

Another of ketamine's known side effects is increased salivation. Excessive salivary secretion poses a potential risk for aspiration in the moderately or deeply sedated patient. Anticholinergics such as atropine or glycopyrrolate have long been used in conjunction with ketamine in hopes of decreasing this unwanted side effect. Three studies have looked at this question.<sup>62-64</sup> The largest study was by Green et al who carried out a large, observational, multi-center meta-analysis involving 8282 patients. This study compared the risk of adverse respiratory events when ketamine was co-administered with atropine, when ketamine was co-administered with glycopyrrolate, and when ketamine was administered alone.<sup>62</sup> Green et al concluded that there was no difference in the odds of experiencing adverse respiratory events such as laryngospasm or apnea among those who received ketamine in conjunction with anticholinergics versus those who did not. In addition, a surprising finding was that ketamine

with glycopyrrolate was associated with worse adverse airway and respiratory events (ie, desaturations < 90%, upper airway obstruction that responded to positioning) than ketamine with atropine or ketamine with no co-administered anticholinergic. Ketamine with glycopyrrolate was associated with worse periprocedural emesis than ketamine with atropine. Although anticholinergics did not reduce the risk of adverse respiratory events, studies by both Heinz et al<sup>63</sup> and Green et al<sup>62</sup> also showed lessfrequent post procedural emesis with the addition of atropine, suggesting an antiemetic benefit with atropine co-administration.

Thus, the literature appears to suggest that atropine (and/or glycopyrrolate) does not reduce the occurrence of hypersalivation-associated adverse airway events and need not be routinely used in conjunction with ketamine sedation. However, in procedures in which control of oral secretions might be important, such as lip/tongue laceration repairs, peritonsillar abscess incision and drainage, dental extraction, and the like, one might consider the antisalivary (as well as the antiemetic) benefits of adding atropine to ketamine in these specific cases.

#### Low-Dose Ketamine With Propofol

In attempts to maximize the benefits of ketamine (fast onset, potent analgesia and sedative properties, and lack of hemodynamic compromise) while simultaneously minimizing the drawbacks (slow recovery time, increased post sedation emesis, and increased emergence reaction), recent research has examined the combination of lower-dose ketamine co-administered with propofol.<sup>68-71</sup> An extensive literature search revealed that no prospective, randomized, controlled studies of ketamine/propofol have been reported. Only 2 prospective, observational studies were found in the recent literature relevant to the practice of pediatric emergency medicine. Several studies, however, including a recent review article,69 examined the use of ketamine/propofol in both the adult and the pediatric literature in various settings (ie, cardiac catheterization laboratory results, MRI studies, auditory brainstem response studies, and during gastroscopy). Sharieff et al conducted a prospective, observational pilot study consisting of 20 patients in which ketamine/propofol was given (0.5 mg/kg IV of ketamine followed by 1 mg/kg IV of propofol) for isolated forearm fracture reduction in a pediatric ED.<sup>70</sup> This ketamine/propofol combination resulted in a median time from administration to the time the patient was ready for discharge of 38 minutes, which is significantly faster than the median times reported in other studies: 80 minutes using 1 mg/kg IV of ketamine in the study by Roback et al <sup>50</sup> and 78 minutes using 1 mg/kg IV of ketamine plus 5 mcg/kg IV of glycopyrrolate.<sup>61</sup> Another notable observational finding in the ketamine/propofol

study by Sharieff et al is that 15 patients experienced desaturations (< 93%), but all responded to repositioning. None required oxygen administration or assisted ventilation.

Andolfatto et al conducted a larger prospective, observational study enrolling 219 patients.<sup>68</sup> The ketamine/propofol combination used in their study was 1:1 (1 mg/kg IV of ketamine and 1 mg/kg IV of propofol, combined in one syringe). Sixty-eight percent of the patients received less than 1 mg/ kg of each drug (with a median dose of 0.8 mg/kg of ketamine/propofol). In this study population, however, up to 20% of the patients received sedation for procedures that do not routinely require deep sedation (laceration repair, chest tube insertion, abscess incision and drainage, CT scan, foreign body removal, hernia reduction, lumbar puncture, cardioversion, laryngoscopy, and pelvic examination). The remaining 80% of patients required procedural sedation for orthopedic fractures (71%) or orthopedic dislocations (9%). The median total sedation time for this larger study was 18 minutes, which is significantly faster than those reported by Sharieff et al. The marked difference in total sedation time is most likely due to the lower doses of ketamine/ propofol used in this study, the differences in definition of total sedation time between the 2 studies, and the variety of procedures in which ketamine/propofol was used for procedural sedation. Out of 219 patients, 7 (3.2%) had respiratory events associated with the sedation, which is similar to the incidence of respiratory events reported in other studies.58

Both these observational studies strongly support the benefit that the ketamine/propofol combination seems to offer in terms of shorter length of sedation time but with no increase in adverse respiratory events, emesis, or emergence reactions. With ever-increasing ED volumes and the need to expedite patient flow into and out of ED beds, procedural sedation agents that have a shorter recovery time with minimal side effects are becoming more desirable. Further prospective, randomized, controlled studies comparing ketamine and ketamine/propofol need to be performed before one can conclude the combination regimen is faster than and as safe as ketamine alone. It should be noted that none of the above studies has examined the duration of subtle effects resulting from "subdissociative" doses of ketamine in terms of when a patient can be discharged.

# Increased Intracranial And Intraocular Pressures

Ketamine has been routinely contraindicated in patients with significant head trauma or ocular trauma because early case reports and case series studies have shown that its use is associated with increases in intracranial and/or intraocular pressure. In the early 1970s, numerous studies (mostly case reports or case series) noted increased intracranial pressure (ICP) as a result of ketamine administration, particularly in patients with altered CSF pathways or spaceoccupying lesions.14-16,77 Many speculated that this was most likely due to the increase in cerebral blood flow associated with ketamine administration. More recent studies in both humans and animals suggest that ketamine not only might maintain a stable ICP or, in some cases, decrease it but also might have a neuroprotective effect on brain-injured patients because ketamine increases cerebral blood flow. Since most of these studies used small sample sizes and were conducted in either animals or intensive care unit settings (where patients are intubated and mechanically ventilated while concurrently receiving multiple other sedative medications), it is difficult to draw any conclusions about the direct effect of ketamine on ICP for patients receiving brief procedural sedation in an ED setting.<sup>18-20,22,78,79</sup>

One recent prospective study by Yehuda et al involved children requiring lumbar puncture to evaluate meningitis; 26 patients received ketamine/ midazolam and 13 received midazolam alone.<sup>17</sup> Opening pressures in the ketamine/midazolamtreated group were more elevated than those in the midazolam-only group (24.4 versus 20.0 cm  $H_20$ , respectively, P = 0.011). Although this finding is statistically significant, the clinical significance and implications of this slightly increased ICP remain unclear. Several recent studies suggest that ketamine is not necessarily harmful in the setting of brain injury or increased ICP, but the lack of standardized studies in the ED setting having adequate sample sizes would suggest that, whenever possible, an agent other than ketamine should be strongly considered in patients with significantly altered CSF dynamics or with suspected or documented significantly increased ICP.

Similarly, the available literature on ketamine and its effect on intraocular pressure (IOP) is old and outdated, and a majority of the more recent studies are in animals. Several prospective, observational studies performed in the 1970s attempted to look at ketamine's effect on IOP in healthy, mostly adult patients and revealed conflicting results.<sup>80-84</sup> In the majority of these studies, a negligible and nonclinically significant rise in IOP was seen in the patients who received ketamine, whereas others actually showed a decrease in pressure. One prospective, observational study showed an increase in IOP in patients with underlying glaucoma.<sup>83</sup>

A more recent study by Blumberg et al compared ketamine and sevoflurane's effect on IOP in a prospective, randomized trial.<sup>21</sup> Unfortunately no presedation pressure measurements were taken for comparison. The researchers used a mathematical model to extrapolate a presedation intraocular pressure and concluded that ketamine had little to no effect on IOP, whereas sevoflurane caused a significant decrease in IOP. Although these recent studies seem to suggest that ketamine does not cause a clinically significant rise in IOP, the clinician could consider using another sedative or analgesic agent instead of ketamine in the setting of increased IOP or ocular trauma.

#### Pharmacology

The commercially available formulation of ketamine is a racemic mixture of 2 optical isomers, S(+) and R(-). Each isomer has been shown to have different properties, with the S(+) isomer having 2 to 3 times more potent analgesic properties than the R(-) isomer.<sup>85,86</sup> Ketamine has been shown to interact with N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, opioid receptors, and monoaminergic and muscarinic receptors. Although ketamine's interactions with other receptors are still being elucidated, its noncompetitive antagonism with NMDA receptors is well established. The NMDA receptor (a member of the glutamate receptor family) has been implicated in the mechanism underlying general anesthesia and analgesia.86,87 Ketamine's potent analgesic properties are a result of complex interactions with the mu  $(\mu)$ , delta ( $\delta$ ), and kappa ( $\kappa$ ) opioid receptors.

Ketamine has been described and categorized as a dissociative sedative agent. Through its interaction with the NMDA receptors, it effectively disconnects the thalamoneocortical system from the limbic system. This results in a "dissociated" state in which the patient does not respond to external stimuli. The trancelike dissociative state, also described in the literature as "cataleptic" state, lasts 5 to 10 minutes, with a slow return to baseline mental status over a period of approximately 1 hour.<sup>24</sup>

After IV administration of 1 to 2 mg/kg of ketamine, it usually takes less than 1 minute for the patient to enter the state, at which point the eyelids open and nystagmus ensues, with the eyes in a fixed and centered gaze.<sup>25</sup> The patient may exhibit tearing and salivation, and there is a baseline increase in heart rate and blood pressure thought to be due to an increased sympathomimetic response to direct stimulation of central nervous system structures.<sup>36</sup> While in this state, corneal and light reflexes remain intact. Varying degrees of skeletal musculature hypertonicity occur, accompanied by occasional gross muscle movements unrelated to the external stimuli.<sup>36</sup>

Unlike other sedative agents, ketamine does not affect the patient's ability to maintain normal spontaneous respirations throughout the duration of sedation. Also of note, ketamine does not exhibit the usual dose–response continuum. The patient enters this dissociative state once a sufficient dose of ketamine (usually 1 mg/kg) exceeds the necessary threshold, and additional doses of ketamine do not result in a deeper state of sedation.<sup>11</sup> Studies have shown that subdissociative doses of ketamine (< 1 mg/kg IV or < 2 mg/kg IM) provide substantial analgesic effects without the added risk of adverse respiratory events in postoperative, oncologic, and chronic pain settings.<sup>88</sup>

# **Prehospital Care**

Because of its potent analgesic effects with minimal adverse respiratory effects, ketamine, given IV or IM, has been studied in the prehospital setting.<sup>89</sup> Many of the existing studies are retrospective in design and reveal promising results about the safety and efficacy of ketamine use in this setting. One retrospective study from the United Kingdom reviewed records from the trauma base for the London Helicopter Emergency Medical Service (HEMS). The HEMS response team consisted of a physician and a paramedic. A total of 1030 trauma patients received ketamine with or without midazolam for analgesia, rapid-sequence intubation, or sedation for painful procedures. Ketamine was given to patients with burns, fracture reductions/immobilizations, pain from blunt force trauma, and penetrating injuries. On detailed chart review, these researchers found that 0.6% of the patients had documented desaturations following ketamine administration, and 20.3% of the patients underwent rapid-sequence intubation following ketamine administration. The authors claim that none of these intubations was a result of airway compromise due to ketamine administration but instead were performed as part of the overall management plan for the patient.<sup>90</sup>

A second, smaller retrospective study conducted in the United States reviewed ketamine use in a regional aeromedical critical care transport program. The response team consisted of a flight physician and a nurse. A total of 40 patients were analyzed over a 3-year period. In this study, ketamine was given for both medical indications (status asthmaticus, hypotensive cardiac patients, burns, and combative patients) and trauma-related indications (pelvic/ long bone fractures and pain control for extrication). All the patients maintained normal airway respon-

# **Risk Management Pitfalls In Pediatric Procedural Sedation**

- "I must give an anticholinergic in conjunction with ketamine to minimize complications due to aspiration from salivary secretions." Although atropine has been shown to decrease the amount of observed secretions, in numerous randomized, controlled studies, it has not been shown to be of any additional benefit in preventing airway complications.<sup>62-64</sup>
- 2. "I can't give narcotics for pain relief prior to sedation because this could lead to complications with oversedation."

One retrospective chart review aimed at answering this question showed no significant differences in adverse events between patients who had received narcotics prior to sedation versus those who had not.<sup>59</sup> Providing appropriate, preferably short-acting, analgesia while awaiting procedural sedation is the humane thing to do.

3. "This patient has multiple face and scalp hematomas from being an unrestrained passenger in a rollover motor vehicle collision. He needs sedation for fracture reduction prior to getting admitted. Can I use ketamine to sedate him?"

Although the data are conflicting regarding the use of ketamine in patients with head injury/ increased ICP, some studies have clearly documented increased ICP with ketamine administration. For this patient, who is at high risk for intracranial injury and increased ICP, a different sedative agent should be strongly considered for fracture reduction.

- 4. "I have a 3-month-old patient who needs sedation for femur fracture reduction and cast placement. Is ketamine a reasonable choice?" Children younger than 3 months of age seem to have more adverse respiratory events when treated with ketamine sedation.<sup>11,35</sup> Therefore, it is probably better to use another agent, followed by prolonged post sedation monitoring or admission for overnight observation to ensure that no delayed adverse events occur.
- 5. "This patient has hypoesthesias and weakness in his hand from a forearm fracture. His last PO intake was 2 hours ago. I should therefore wait 2 more hours before I can sedate him, despite his neurologic deficits." Several published guidelines recommend 4 to 6 hours of fasting before moderate or deep sedation, but this patient has a neurologic deficit that must be attended to promptly. Studies have shown that there is no relation between adverse respiratory events and fasting.<sup>93,94</sup> In this patient, prompt reduction supersedes the risk of aspiration, and the procedure should be performed immediately. The clinician should always be

siveness and oxygen saturation levels.<sup>91</sup> One caveat in both these studies is that the emergency response teams who administered the ketamine consisted of a physician and a nurse, which brings into question its safety and applicability in EMS systems when the response team consists solely of paramedics.

### **Emergency Department Evaluation**

Emergency clinicians should familiarize themselves with the well-established and well-researched guidelines set forth by the AAP, ACEP, and the American Society of Anesthesiologists.<sup>8-10,92</sup>

Before performing procedural sedation, clinicians should question all prospective patients about preexisting medical conditions, any known allergies, any current medications (both prescription and herbal medications, as well as any recreational or illicit drug use), and prior complications with sedation in both patients and family members. This information can help alert the clinician to any potential risk factors for complications related with the use of ketamine. A detailed medical history should focus on eliciting any known factor that would contraindicate ketamine use in the patient. (See Indications And Contraindications on page 4.)

Clinicians should inquire about the time of the patient's last intake of food or fluids. Current AAP guidelines suggest that the patient's oral intake be restricted (NPO) for 2 hours for clear liquids, 4 to 6 hours for breast milk/formula, and 6 hours for light meals. These fasting times are often not feasible in a busy ED setting. Two recent studies have shown no difference in the incidence of adverse respiratory events or emesis in relation to the fasting times, which calls into question the need to adhere to these strict fasting guidelines in emergent situations.93,94 ACEP's clinical policy on procedural sedation and analgesia in the ED states, "Recent food intake is not a contraindication for administering procedural sedation and anesthesia but should be considered in choosing the timing and target level of sedation."9

A focused physical examination should be performed, with particular attention paid to the mouth

## Risk Management Pitfalls In Pediatric Procedural Sedation (Continued from page 8)

ready with appropriate suctioning and equipment to secure the airway in the event of emesis.

- 6. "This patient, whom I sedated with ketamine for a lumbar puncture to evaluate her headache and fever, has an elevated opening pressure. Does she have pseudotumor cerebri?" The elevated opening pressure is most likely due to the ketamine. Several studies have shown that ketamine can increase ICP.<sup>17</sup> If an opening pressure is needed to rule in or rule out a specific diagnosis, the clinician should choose a sedative agent other than ketamine to assure an accurate and valid opening pressure.
- 7. "Laryngospasm is so rare; I don't need to have the emergency airway cart nearby during this sedation."

Although laryngospasm is indeed rare, the clinician should be ready to respond immediately if and when it does occur. This includes having the appropriate equipment at or near the bedside. (Remember the SOAPME mnemonic: Suction, Oxygen, Airway equipment, Pharmacy medications, Monitors, and Equipment).<sup>8</sup>

8. "The patient is getting ketamine, which is a potent analgesic, so he doesn't need a digital block for repair of this fingertip amputation." Ketamine is a potent analgesic, but it is not

uncommon for patients to flinch or move in response to painful stimuli. This is particularly true after the drug has reached its peak concentration and the dissociative anesthetic state starts to wane. The local infiltration of lidocaine or bupivacaine to the site will prevent discomfort but also movement during the procedure as he begins to wake up.

9. "Ketamine is unsafe to use in areas outside of the operating room."

Several studies have explored the safety of ketamine use in EDs, sedation suites, and dental or ophthalmology clinics. The results indicate ketamine is safe in such settings as long as the appropriate guidelines are followed, monitoring and safety equipment are available, and the practitioner is well trained in recognizing and managing respiratory emergencies.

#### 10. "I've given this toddler 1.5 mg/kg of ketamine, but the medication has lasted only a few minutes — not long enough to complete the procedure."

According to several reports, higher ketamine doses are required for smaller children because children in general have a relatively larger volume of distribution than adults. It is not uncommon for smaller children to require higher doses or repetitive dosing to maintain the dissociative state. and oropharynx to detect anatomic abnormalities that could result in airway compromise during sedation and to determine whether it might be difficult to secure the airway in an emergency. The evaluating clinician should perform a thorough cardiopulmonary examination to ensure normal ventilatory and cardiac function. Complete vital signs should be obtained, including baseline respiratory rate, heart rate, blood pressure, and oxygen saturation, as well as a recent weight, and these values should be documented in the nursing chart to ensure appropriate dosing of medications. Continuous end-tidal carbon dioxide monitoring (capnography) can be used as an adjunct for monitoring the patient during sedation and can be helpful in detecting laryngospasm, upper airway obstruction, or apnea before desaturations are noted.95-97

# **Special Circumstances**

Although ketamine is an excellent choice for providing both analgesia and deep sedation when given in appropriately therapeutic doses (1-2 mg/kg), it is not uncommon for patients to continue to react or respond to sharp, painful stimuli such as needlesticks or surgical incisions. By definition, deep sedation is when a patient cannot be easily roused but responds purposefully to repeated verbal or painful stimulation.8 To help prevent further patient movement during the procedure, as well as to provide post procedural analgesia, the infiltration of a local anesthetic such as lidocaine (or buffered lidocaine) or bupivacaine is recommended in areas where the procedure might inflict sharp pain. Examples include lidocaine infiltration in the perilumbar skin area for lumbar punctures or lidocaine with epinephrine at the incision site for abscess incision and drainage. The addition of a local anesthetic will further minimize pain and may reduce the total amount of ketamine required during key stages of delicate procedures.

#### Laryngospasm

Laryngospasm is the spasmodic closure of the glottic aperture.<sup>98</sup> It usually occurs shortly after the administration of ketamine and is manifested by lack of chest wall excursion, a sudden drop of  $EtCO_2$  measurements to 0 with an associated flat line on continuous capnography, a decrease in oxygen saturation, and associated signs of upper airway obstruction. Although relatively infrequent (0.4% incidence noted in one study), laryngospasm can be a dangerous and potentially life-threatening complication of ketamine administration,<sup>42</sup> and the clinician should be prepared to treat this complication if it should arise.

According to the AAP guidelines, a minimum of 2 persons should be present at the patient's bedside during moderate or deep sedation. One person,

usually a nurse, is responsible for recording and monitoring physiologic parameters (eg, respiratory rate, blood pressure, and oxygen saturations, with or without capnography) and assisting the practitioner in the event of an emergency.<sup>8</sup> The other person (the clinician who is performing the sedation) should:

- Be responsible for treating the patient, administering the medication, and providing any necessary interventions in the event of complications from the sedation
- Be familiar with the medications given and any associated side effects
- Be able to recognize and correct any potential adverse effects that occur as a result of the sedation
- Be well-trained and competent in advanced airway management, including effective bag-valvemask ventilation and, if necessary, intubation to secure a definitive airway

When laryngospasm occurs, the classic teaching is to perform a jaw-thrust maneuver, followed by gentle but constant positive-pressure ventilation with 100% oxygen using a bag and mask of appropriate size. If this fails to resolve the laryngospasm, the practitioner should administer a paralytic drug (eg, succinvlcholine) to relax the vocal cord musculature and should subsequently ventilate the patient with a bag-valve-mask or consider intubation until the paralytic has worn off. For the prompt management of acute laryngospasm, there is also mention of a "laryngospasm notch" in the anesthesiology literature; however, there was nothing in the literature that elucidated the neuroanatomic mechanism by which this maneuver works.99 This notch is located bilaterally in the depression beneath the earlobes; it is bounded by the mastoid process posteriorly, the superior portion of the rami of the mandible anteriorly, and by the base of the skull superiorly. The practitioner performs the maneuver by applying firm, constant pressure with the middle fingers in the area of the notch, medially and toward the base of the skull, while simultaneously lifting the mandible anteriorly much like the jaw-thrust maneuver. With this maneuver, the laryngospasm should resolve within 1 to 2 breaths, but if not, the practitioner should continue to apply such pressure, which is usually successful within 4 to 5 breaths.<sup>100</sup> The potential for laryngospasm to occur provides the rationale for ensuring 100% oxygenation prior to and during a procedure to allow sufficient time to treat this problem should it arise.

#### Emergence Reactions And Psychiatric Events

The incidence of ketamine-associated emergence reactions is difficult to ascertain, given the lack of a standard definition of what this reaction constitutes. In their review article, Strayer and Nelson found that psychiatric events occurred in 10% to 20% of patients receiving ketamine.<sup>13</sup> As mentioned earlier, the co-administration of ketamine and benzodiazepines (most notably midazolam) does not reduce the occurrence of emergence reactions.<sup>60,61</sup> In the event that a patient wakes up with severe agitation or hallucinations following ketamine administration, as-needed doses of benzodiazepines have been shown to be effective in treating this agitated state.<sup>11,13</sup>

#### **Nausea And Emesis**

The incidence of ketamine-associated nausea and emesis ranges from 3.8% to 18.7%.<sup>11,42,57,65,101</sup> As mentioned earlier, one randomized, controlled trial showed that the co-administration of ondansetron and ketamine at the start of the procedure significantly reduced the incidence of ketamine-related nausea.<sup>65</sup>

# **Controversies/Cutting Edge**

#### Ketamine For Treatment Of Refractory Status Epilepticus

According to recent anecdotal and experimental studies, ketamine can be used to treat patients with refractory status epilepticus. Current animal models of the propagation and maintenance of status epilepticus suggest that inhibitory  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptors on the neuronal surface are increasingly internalized/downregulated the longer the seizure persists. Simultaneously, neuroexcitatory NMDA receptors are moved to the synapse. Current therapies, such as benzodiazepines and barbiturates, which exert their inhibitory effect on neuronal activity through GABA receptors, may not be effective in the case of refractory status epilepticus because of the internalization of these receptors. Ketamine, being an NMDA antagonist, potentiates the neuroexcitatory propagation seen in status epilepticus by interacting with upregulated NMDA receptors at neuronal synapses.<sup>102,103</sup> Because of its competitive antagonism of NMDA receptors, ketamine has been shown, both anecdotally and experimentally, to stop refractory status epilepticus. Further research to clarify the exact timing and dosing of ketamine needs to be conducted.

# Ketamine And Apoptosis Or Neuronal Cell Death

Over the past decade, an increasing amount of evidence has emerged linking ketamine and other NMDA-receptor antagonists to apoptosis and neuronal degeneration in the brains of young animal models (rats, mice, and nonhuman primates). The administration of NMDA antagonists, such as ketamine, during this critical period of brain development (during synaptogenesis) resulted in a robust apoptotic neurodegenerative response. Synaptogenesis is estimated to extend from the third trimester of pregnancy to the first several years of life in humans, during which time the developing brain is extremely sensitive to both overstimulation (via NMDA-receptor stimulation), resulting in excitotoxic neurodegeneration, and understimulation (via GABA-receptor inhibition), resulting in apoptotic neurodegeneration.

The implied public health concern is that some of the anesthetic and sedative agents that are commonly used in infants and children could have deleterious effects on the developing brain. Learning disabilities, hyperactivity, and attention deficit disorder as well as adult-onset depression or psychosis are some of the possible consequences of neurodegeneration and apoptosis during synaptogenesis.73 As a result of this emerging literature, the Food and Drug Administration held a meeting in March of 2007 to discuss the public health implications of using ketamine and other anesthetic agents in the pediatric population. The committee concluded that the results of these animal studies, while worrisome, could not reliably be extrapolated to humans. Of note, the existing animal studies used significantly higher doses (20-50 mg/kg) or used ketamine for prolonged or excessively repetitive doses that are not commonly used in the ED setting, calling into question its effect when translated to humans.<sup>104</sup>

#### Ketamine Isomers

The currently available formulation of ketamine (Ketalar®) consists of a racemic mixture of the drug's R(-) and S(+) isomers. In the past decade, more animal and human research has focused on separating, isolating, and subsequently studying the properties of the R(-) and S(+) isomers of ketamine with hopes of improving ketamine's sedative and analgesic properties and minimizing its unwanted side effects. A majority of the more recent studies have focused on the S(+) isomer, which has shown a lot of promise as a potent analgesic in preliminary studies.<sup>22,85,105,106</sup> One study suggested that less S(+)ketamine was needed to attain the same sedative/ analgesic effects in pediatric patients who required sedation for cardiac catherterization.<sup>106</sup> Future research on the benefits and drawbacks of these isomers will need to be carried out to refine our understanding of ketamine's isomers and their potential use in the ED setting.

# Disposition

Following the completion of the procedure, patients who have undergone ketamine procedural sedation should be monitored closely for the development of any adverse respiratory or behavioral events. Newman et al conducted a prospective observational study looking for the adverse effects following procedural sedation and found that a majority of these occurred within 30 minutes of the drug administration.<sup>107</sup> Given the relatively short duration of ketamine and the lack of reports of any delayed adverse respiratory events occurring, most patients can be observed closely in a monitored setting until return to baseline mental status as recommended by the AAP guidelines<sup>8</sup> and the ketamine clinical practice guideline recommended by Green et al.<sup>8,11</sup> Parents should be warned about the potential occurrence of emesis as well as rare but possible behavioral changes and nightmares that may occur after hospital discharge.<sup>55</sup>

## Summary

ED clinicians who take care of pediatric patients strive to provide the most compassionate yet safe care for our patients. The classic story of the toddler who presents with a forearm fracture from a fall is not only in significant pain but is also frightened and will most likely be uncooperative during the evaluation and management of his or her injury. With a better understanding of the risks and benefits of procedural sedation and analgesia, we can provide effective and safe care to these patients in the ED. In the search to find the perfect agent that will provide rapid and sufficient sedation and analgesia for a majority of the painful procedures, ketamine has quickly become one of the more frequently used medications for procedural sedation and analgesia in the ED. Some of the many reasons for ketamine's popularity are its ability to provide sedation and analgesia of rapid onset (with a reasonably wide therapeutic window) dosing via multiple routes of administration, and a brief duration of sedation along with a low incidence of manageable side effects. Over the past 40 years, numerous studies have revealed the benefits and drawbacks of ketamine. Although more studies continue to be conducted to refine the use of this agent and improve its safety, particularly in the young, developing brain, ketamine has managed to withstand such rigorous scrutiny and has become a cornerstone in the armamentarium for pediatric procedural sedation and analgesia in the ED setting.

# **Case Conclusions**

While waiting for the orthopedic team to set up and prepare for presurgical sedation, you give Patient 1, the 6-year-old boy with a radius and ulnar fracture, 1 mcg/kg of fentanyl IV for analgesia. This markedly alleviates his discomfort, to his parents' great relief. After taking note of his fasting status and his history of mild asthma, you decide that he is a safe candidate for sedation with ketamine. Appropriate sedation levels are achieved with 1 mg/kg of ketamine IV. The orthopedic surgeon reduces the fracture without complications, and the patient is then monitored closely without incident.

After completing the sedation procedure for treatment of the forearm fracture, you move on to Patient 2, the 2-year-old-girl. Her complex lip laceration will require plastic surgery. You thoroughly examine her head, pupils, tympanic membranes, and scalp and find no clinical evidence of intracranial injury. Although you realize that her recent PO intake makes sedation less than ideal, you decide to proceed by giving her 0.15 mg/kg of ondansetron IV to prevent ketamine-associated emesis. You premedicate with atropine, 0.02 mg/kg IV, several minutes prior to the ketamine dose to minimize the amount of salivary secretions, thereby lowering the risk of aspiration while simultaneously allowing the plastic surgeon to work in a drier field. You then administer ketamine, 1 mg/kg IV, and achieve the appropriate level of sedation. The plastic surgeon infiltrates local anesthetic to the lip and completes the laceration repair without incident. Toward the end of the procedure, the patient starts to wake up. She is then monitored, emesis having been prevented, and is discharged home with outpatient follow-up.

## References

Evidence-based medicine requires a critical appraisal of the literature based upon study methodology and number of subjects. Not all references are equally robust. The findings of a large, prospective, randomized, and blinded trial should carry more weight than a case report.

To help the reader judge the strength of each reference, pertinent information about the study, such as the type of study and the number of patients in the study, will be included in bold type following the reference, where available. In addition, the most informative references cited in this paper, as determined by the authors, will be noted by an asterisk (\*) next to the number of the reference.

- Sacchetti A, Stander E, Ferguson N, et al. Pediatric Procedural Sedation in the Community Emergency Department: Results From the ProSCED Registry. *Pediatric Emergency Care*. 2007;23(4):218-222 (Prospective; 1028 patients).
- Rishi B, Kelly DY. Procedural Pain Management Patterns in Academic Pediatric Emergency Departments. Academic Emergency Medicine. 2007;14(5):479-482 (Survey; 38 centers).
- Migita RT, Klein EJ, Garrison MM. Sedation and Analgesia for Pediatric Fracture Reduction in the Emergency Department: A Systematic Review. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* January 1, 2006;160(1):46-51 (Systematic Review).
- 4. Cravero JP, Blike GT. Review of Pediatric Sedation. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*. November 2004;99(5):1355-1364 (**Review**).
- Pitetti RD, Singh S, Pierce MC. Safe and Efficacious Use of Procedural Sedation and Analgesia by Nonanesthesiologists in a Pediatric Emergency Department. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* November 1, 2003;157(11):1090-1096 (Prospective; 1244 patients).
- 6. Neil S M. Ketamine for procedural sedation and analgesia in pediatric emergency medicine: a UK perspective. *Pediatric Anesthesia*. 2008;18(1):25-29 (**Review**).
- 7. Ip U, Saincher A. Safety of pediatric procedural sedation in a Canadian emergency department. *Cjem.* Jan 2000;2(1):15-20

#### (Retrospective, 167 patients).

- 8.\* Cote CJ, American Academy of Pediatric D, Pediatrics AAo, Wilson S, the Work Group on S. Guidelines for Monitoring and Management of Pediatric Patients During and After Sedation for Diagnostic and Therapeutic Procedures: An Update. *Pediatrics*. December 1, 2006;118(6):2587-2602 (Clinical Practice Guideline, Review, American Academy of Pediatrics).
- 9.\* Godwin SA, Caro DA, Wolf SJ, et al. Clinical policy: Procedural sedation and analgesia in the emergency department. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2005;45(2):177-196 (Clinical Policy, Review, American College of Emergency Physicians).
- 10.\* Mace SE, Barata IA, Cravero JP, et al. Clinical policy: Evidence-based approach to pharmacologic agents used in pediatric sedation and analgesia in the emergency department. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2004;44(4):342-377
  (Clinical Policy, Systematic Review, American College of Emergency Physicians).
- 11.\* Green SM, Krauss B. Clinical practice guideline for emergency department ketamine dissociative sedation in children. Annals of Emergency Medicine. 2004;44(5):460-471 (Clinical Practice Guideline, Review).
- 12. Stevens CL, Parke, Davis and Company, assignee. Aminoketones and methods for their production, 1966.
- Strayer RJ, Nelson LS. Adverse events associated with ketamine for procedural sedation in adults. *The American Journal* of *Emergency Medicine*. 2008;26(9):985-1028 (Systematic Review).
- Gibbs JM. The Effect Of Intravenous Ketamine On Cerebrospinal Fluid Pressure. *Br. J. Anaesth.* December 1, 1972;44(12):1298-1302 (Prospective; 20 patients).
- Gardner AE, Dannemiller FJ, Dean D. Intracranial Cerebrospinal Fluid Pressure in Man During Ketamine Anesthesia. *Survey of Anesthesiology.* 1973;17(4):320 (Prospective; 11 patients).
- Wyte SR, Shapiro HM, Turner P, et al. Ketamine-induced Intracranial Hypertension. *Anesthesiology*. 1972;36(2):174-176 (Case series; 2 patients).
- Yehuda YB, Watemberg N. Ketamine Increases Opening Cerebrospinal Pressure in Children Undergoing Lumbar Puncture. *J Child Neurol.* June 1, 2006;21(6):441-443 (Prospective; 39 patients).
- Albanese J, Arnaud S, Rey M, et al. Ketamine Decreases Intracranial Pressure and Electroencephalographic Activity in Traumatic Brain Injury Patients during Propofol Sedation. *Anesthesiology.* 1997;87(6):1328-1334 (Prospective; 8 patients).
- Bourgoin AI, Albanase J, Wereszczynski N, et al. Safety of sedation with ketamine in severe head injury patients: Comparison with sufentanil. *Critical Care Medicine*. 2003;31(3):711-717 (Prospective, randomized; 25 patients).
- Bar-Joseph G, Guilburd Y, Tamir A, et al. Effectiveness of ketamine in decreasing intracranial pressure in children with intracranial hypertension. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Pediatrics*. 2009;4(1):40-46 (Prospective; 30 patients).
- Blumberg D, Congdon N, Jampel H, et al. The Effects of Sevoflurane and Ketamine on Intraocular Pressure in Children During Examination Under Anesthesia. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*. 2007;143(3):494-499 (Prospective, randomized; 30 patients).
- Schmidt A, ØYe I, ÅKeson J. Racemic, S(+)- and R(-)-ketamine do not increase elevated intracranial pressure. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*. 2008;52(8):1124-1130 (Prospective, animal study; 9 pigs).
- Falls HF, Hoy JE, Corssen G. CI-581: an intravenous or intramuscular anesthetic. for office ophthalmic surgery. *Am J Ophthalmol.* May 1966;61(5 Pt 2):1093-1095 (Prospective; 143 patients).
- 24. Domino EF, Chodoff P, Corssen G. Pharmacologic Effects of Ci-581, a New Dissociative Anesthetic, in Man. *Clin Pharma*-

col Ther. May-Jun 1965;6:279-291 (Prospective; 20 patients).

- 25. Corssen G, Domino EF. Dissociative anesthesia: further pharmacologic studies and first clinical experience with the phencyclidine derivative CI-581. *Anesth Analg.* Jan-Feb 1966;45(1):29-40 (**Review**).
- Roberts FW. A new intramuscular anaesthetic for small children. A report of clinical trials of CI-581. *Anaesthesia*. Jan 1967;22(1):23-28 (Case series, 20 patients).
- 27. Harris JE, Letson RD, Buckley JJ. The use of CI-581, a new parenteral anesthetic, in ophthalmic practice. *Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc.* 1968;66:206-213 (Prospective; 54 patients).
- Ginsberg H, Gerber JA. CI-581: a clinical report on 100 patients. *S Afr Med J.* Nov 9 1968;42(43):1177-1179 (Prospective; 100 patients).
- Oduntan SA, Gool RY. Clinical trial of ketamine (CI-581): a preliminary report. *Can Anaesth Soc J.* Jul 1970;17(4):411-416 (Case series, 100 patients).
- Law GT, Gunn C. Clinical use of ketamine (CI-581). Singapore Med J. Apr 1971;12(2):110-113 (Prospective; 174 patients).
- Herd D, Brian J A. Ketamine disposition in children presenting for procedural sedation and analgesia in a children's emergency department. *Pediatric Anesthesia*. 2007;17(7):622-629 (Prospective; 54 patients).
- Dallimore D, Herd DW, Short T, et al. Dosing Ketamine for Pediatric Procedural Sedation in the Emergency Department. *Pediatric Emergency Care.* 2008;24(8):529-533 (Descriptive, Mathematical modeling).
- Clements JA, Nimmo WS, Grant IS. Bioavailability, pharmacokinetics, and analgesic activity of ketamine in humans. J Pharm Sci. May 1982;71(5):539-542 (Prospective; 6 patients).
- Mistry RB, Nahata MC. Ketamine for conscious sedation in pediatric emergency care. *Pharmacotherapy*. Aug 2005;25(8):1104-1111 (Systematic Review).
- Green SM, Johnson NE. Ketamine sedation for pediatric procedures: Part 2, Review and implications. *Ann Emerg Med.* Sep 1990;19(9):1033-1046 (Review).
- White PF, Way WL, Trevor AJ. Ketamine-Its Pharmacology and Therapeutic Uses. *Anesthesiology*. 1982;56(2):119-136.
- Green SM, Nakamura R, Johnson NE. Ketamine sedation for pediatric procedures: Part 1, A prospective series. *Ann Emerg Med.* Sep 1990;19(9):1024-1032 (Prospective; 108 patients).
- Pruitt JW, Goldwasser MS, Sabol SR, et al. Intramuscular ketamine, midazolam, and glycopyrrolate for pediatric sedation in the emergency department. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*. 1995;53(1):13-17 (Prospective; 47 patients).
- Green SM. The safety of ketamine for emergency department pediatric sedation. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. Oct 1995;53(10):1232-1233 (Editorial Letter).
- 40.\* Kennedy RM, Porter FL, Miller JP, et al. Comparison of Fentanyl/Midazolam With Ketamine/Midazolam for Pediatric Orthopedic Emergencies. *Pediatrics*. October 1, 1998;102(4):956-963 (Prospective, randomized, controlled trial; 260 patients).
- 41. Green SM, Rothrock SG, Harris T, et al. Intravenous ketamine for pediatric sedation in the emergency department: safety profile with 156 cases. *Acad Emerg Med.* Oct 1998;5(10):971-976 (Retrospective; 156 patients).
- Green SM, Rothrock SG, Lynch EL, et al. Intramuscular ketamine for pediatric sedation in the emergency department: safety profile in 1,022 cases. *Ann Emerg Med.* Jun 1998;31(6):688-697 (Prospective; 1022 patients).
- McCarty EC, Mencio GA, Walker LA, et al. Ketamine Sedation for the Reduction of Children's Fractures in the Emergency Department. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* July 1, 2000;82(7):912-918 (Retrospective; 500 patients).
- 44. Dachs RJ, Innes GM. Intravenous Ketamine Sedation of Pediatric Patients in the Emergency Department. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 1997;29(1):146-150 (**Prospective**; **30 patients**).
- 45. Misra S, Mahajan PV, Chen X, et al. Safety of procedural

sedation and analgesia in children less than 2 years of age in a pediatric emergency department *Int J Emerg Med.* Sep 2008;1(3):173-177 (**Retrospective; 173 patients**).

- Vardy JM, Dignon N, Mukherjee N, et al. Audit of the safety and effectiveness of ketamine for procedural sedation in the emergency department. *Emergency Medicine Journal*. September 2008;25(9):579-582 (Prospective; 210 patients).
- 47. Morton NS. Ketamine is not a safe, effective, and appropriate technique for emergency department paediatric procedural sedation. *Emergency Medicine Journal.* May 2004;21(3):272-273 (Editorial Letter).
- Parker RI, Mahan RA, Giugliano D, et al. Efficacy and safety of intravenous midazolam and ketamine as sedation for therapeutic and diagnostic procedures in children. *Pediatrics*. Mar 1997;99(3):427-431 (Prospective; 350 patients).
- Green SM, Hummel CB, Wittlake WA, et al. What is the optimal dose of intramuscular ketamine for pediatric sedation? *Acad Emerg Med.* Jan 1999;6(1):21-26 (Prospective; 1022 patients).
- 50.\* Roback MG, Wathen JE, MacKenzie T, et al. A Randomized, Controlled Trial of IV Versus IM Ketamine for Sedation of Pediatric Patients Receiving Emergency Department Orthopedic Procedures. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2006;48(5):605-612 (Prospective, randomized, controlled trial; 208 patients).
- Preeti R, Franz EB, Conor D, et al. Pediatric Procedural Sedation with Ketamine: Time to Discharge after Intramuscular versus Intravenous Administration. *Academic Emergency Medicine*. 2009;16(2):101-107 (Prospective; 229 patients).
- 52. Melendez E, Bachur R. Serious Adverse Events During Procedural Sedation With Ketamine. *Pediatric Emergency Care*. 2009;25(5):325-328 (Retrospective, case-control; 4252 patients).
- 53. Petrack EM, Marx CM, Wright MS. Intramuscular Ketamine Is Superior to Meperidine, Promethazine, and Chlorpromazine for Pediatric Emergency Department Sedation. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. July 1, 1996;150(7):676-681 (Prospective, randomized, clinical trial; 29 patients).
- Godambe SA, Elliot V, Matheny D, et al. Comparison of Propofol/Fentanyl Versus Ketamine/Midazolam for Brief Orthopedic Procedural Sedation in a Pediatric Emergency Department. *Pediatrics*. July 1, 2003;112(1):116-123 (Prospective, randomized, control; 113 patients).
- McQueen A, Wright RO, Kido MM, et al. Procedural Sedation and Analgesia Outcomes in Children After Discharge From the Emergency Department: Ketamine Versus Fentanyl/Midazolam. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2009;54(2):191-197.e194 (Prospective; 786 patients).
- Acworth JP, Purdie D, Clark RC. Intravenous ketamine plus midazolam is superior to intranasal midazolam for emergency paediatric procedural sedation. *Emergency Medicine Journal*. January 2001;18(1):39-45 (Prospective, randomized, control; 53 patients).
- 57. Green SM, Roback MG, Krauss B, et al. Predictors of Emesis and Recovery Agitation With Emergency Department Ketamine Sedation: An Individual-Patient Data Meta-Analysis of 8,282 Children. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2009;54(2):171-180.e174 (**Retrospective**, **Meta-analysis**; 8282 patients).
- Green SM, Roback MG, Krauss B, et al. Predictors of Airway and Respiratory Adverse Events With Ketamine Sedation in the Emergency Department: An Individual-Patient Data Meta-analysis of 8,282 Children. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2009;54(2):158-168.e154 (Retrospective, meta-analysis; 8282 patients).
- 59. Waterman GD, Jr., Leder MS, Cohen DM. Adverse Events in Pediatric Ketamine Sedations With or Without Morphine Pretreatment. *Pediatric Emergency Care.* 2006;22(6):408-411 (Retrospective; 858 patients).
- 60. Sherwin TS, Green SM, Khan A, et al. Does adjunctive mida-

zolam reduce recovery agitation after ketamine sedation for pediatric procedures? A randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. *Ann Emerg Med.* Mar 2000;35(3):229-238 (**Prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled; 104 patients**).

- Wathen JE, Roback MG, Mackenzie T, et al. Does midazolam alter the clinical effects of intravenous ketamine sedation in children? A double-blind, randomized, controlled, emergency department trial. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2000;36(6):579-588 (Prospective, randomized, controlled; 266 patients).
- 62. Green SM, Roback MG, Krauss B. Anticholinergics and Ketamine Sedation in Children: A Secondary Analysis of Atropine Versus Glycopyrrolate. *Academic Emergency Medicine*. 2010;17(2):157-162 (Retrospective, meta-analysis; 8282 patients).
- Heinz P, Geelhoed GC, Wee C, et al. Is atropine needed with ketamine sedation? A prospective, randomised, double blind study. *Emergency Medicine Journal*. March 2006;23(3):206-209 (Prospective, randomized, controlled; 83 patients).
- Brown L, Christian-Kopp S, Sherwin T, et al. Adjunctive Atropine Is Unnecessary during Ketamine Sedation in Children. Academic Emergency Medicine. 2008;15(4):314-318 (Prospective; 1090 patients).
- 65.\* Langston WT, Wathen JE, Roback MG, et al. Effect of Ondansetron on the Incidence of Vomiting Associated With Ketamine Sedation in Children: A Double-Blind, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2008;52(1):30-34 (Prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled; 127 patients).
- Thorp AW, Brown L, Green SM. Ketamine-Associated Vomiting: Is it Dose-Related? *Pediatric Emergency Care*. 2009;25(1):15-18 (Prospective; 1039 patients).
- 67. Bleiberg AH, Salvaggio CA, Roy LC, et al. Low-Dose Ketamine: Efficacy in Pediatric Sedation. *Pediatric Emergency Care*. 2007;23(3):158-162 (Retrospective; 72 patients).
- Andolfatto G, Willman EV. A Prospective Case Series of Pediatric Procedural Sedation and Analgesia in the Emergency Department Using Single-syringe Ketamine-Propofol Combination (Ketofol). *Academic Emergency Medicine*. 2010;17(2):194-201 (Prospective; 219 patients).
- Loh G, Dalen D. Low-Dose Ketamine in Addition to Propofol for Procedural Sedation and Analgesia in the Emergency Department. *Ann Pharmacother*. March 1, 2007;41(3):485-492 (Systematic Review).
- Sharieff GQ, Trocinski DR, Kanegaye JT, et al. Ketamine-Propofol Combination Sedation for Fracture Reduction in the Pediatric Emergency Department. *Pediatric Emergency Care*. 2007;23(12):881-884 (Prospective, pilot study; 20 patients).
- Willman EV, Andolfatto G. A Prospective Evaluation of "Ketofol" (Ketamine/Propofol Combination) for Procedural Sedation and Analgesia in the Emergency Department. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2007;49(1):23-30 (Prospective; 114 patients).
- 72. Green SM, Li J. Ketamine in Adults What Emergency Physicians Need to Know about Patient Selection and Emergence Reactions. *Academic Emergency Medicine*. 2000;7(3):278-281 (Review).
- Olney JW. New Insights and New Issues in Developmental Neurotoxicology. *NeuroToxicology*. 2002;23(6):659-668 (Review).
- 74. Lahti AC, Koffel B, LaPorte D, et al. Subanesthetic doses of ketamine stimulate psychosis in schizophrenia. *Neuropsy-chopharmacology*. Aug 1995;13(1):9-19 (**Prospective, double blind; 9 patients**).
- Kumar A, Bajaj A, Sarkar P, et al. The effect of music on ketamine induced emergence phenomena. *Anaesthesia*. 1992;47(5):438-439 (Prospective, 50 patients).
- Sklar GS, Zukin SR, Reilly TA. Adverse reactions to ketamine Anaesthesia. *Anaesthesia*. 1981;36(2):183-187. (Prospective, 90 patients)

- Shapiro HM, Wyte SR, Harris AB. Ketamine Anesthesia in Patient with Intracranial Pathology Br. J. Anaesth. November 1, 1972 1972;44(11):1200-1204 (Case series, 7 patients).
- Mayberg TS, Lam AM, Matta BF, et al. Ketamine does not increase cerebral blood flow velocity or intracranial pressure during isoflurane/nitrous oxide anesthesia in patients undergoing craniotomy. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*. July 1995;81(1):84-89 (Prospective; 20 patients).
- Himmelseher S, Durieux ME. Revising a Dogma: Ketamine for Patients with Neurological Injury? *Anesthesia & Analgesia*. August 2005;101(2):524-534 (Systematic Review).
- Peuler M, Glass DD, Arens JF. Ketamine and Intraocular Pressure. *Anesthesiology*. 1975;43(5):575-577 (Prospective; 20 patients).
- Ausinsch B, Rayburn RL, Munson ES, et al. Ketamine and Intraocular Pressure in Children. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*. November 1976 1976;55(6):773-775 (Prospective; 10 patients).
- Dave VB, Chokshi JM, AK B. Ketamine and Intraocular Pressure. *Indian J Ophthalmol.* 1976;24:5-8 (Prospective; 60 patients).
- Mathur GB, Desai NC. Ketamine hydrochloride (ketalar) intraocular pressure. *Indian J Ophthalmol.* 1977;25:45-47 (Prospective; 30 patients).
- Nagdeve NG, Yaddanapudi S, Pandav SS. The effect of different doses of ketamine on intraocular pressure in anesthetized children. *J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus*. Jul-Aug 2006;43(4):219-223. (Prospective; 20 patients).
- White PF, Schuttler J, Shafer A, et al. Comparative Pharmacology of the Ketamine Isomers: Studies in Volunteers. *Br. J. Anaesth.* February 1, 1985 1985;57(2):197-203 (Prospective; 5 patients).
- Hirota K, Lambert DG. Ketamine: its mechanism(s) of action and unusual clinical uses. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*. October 1, 1996;77(4):441-444 (Review).
- 87. Bhutta AT. Ketamine: A Controversial Drug for Neonates. Seminars in Perinatology. 2007;31(5):303-308 (Review).
- Schmid RL, Sandler AN, Katz J. Use and efficacy of lowdose ketamine in the management of acute postoperative pain: a review of current techniques and outcomes. *Pain*. 1999;82(2):111-125. (Review).
- Porter K. Ketamine in prehospital care. *Emergency Medicine Journal*. May 1, 2004;21(3):351-354 (Observational, 32 patients).
- Bredmose PP, Lockey DJ, Grier G, et al. Pre-hospital use of ketamine for analgesia and procedural sedation. *Emergency Medicine Journal*. January 1, 2009;26(1):62-64 (Retrospective, 1220 patients).
- Svenson JE, Abernathy MK. Ketamine for prehospital use: new look at an old drug. *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine*. 2007;25(8):977-980 (Review).
- Gross J. Practice Guidelines for Sedation adn Analgesia by Non-Anesthesiologists: An Updated Report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Sedation and Analgesia by Non-Anesthesiologists. *Anesthesiology*. 2002;96(4):1004-1017. (Practice Guideline).
- Roback MG, Bajaj L, Wathen JE, et al. Preprocedural fasting and adverse events in procedural sedation and analgesia in a pediatric emergency department: Are they related? *Annals* of *Emergency Medicine*. 2004;44(5):454-459 (Prospective; 2085 patients).
- 94. Agrawal D, Manzi SF, Gupta R, et al. Preprocedural fasting state and adverse events in children undergoing procedural sedation and analgesia in a pediatric emergency department. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2003;42(5):636-646 (Prospective; 905 patients).
- Krauss B, Hess DR. Capnography for Procedural Sedation and Analgesia in the Emergency Department. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2007;50(2):172-181 (Review).
- 96. Miner JR, Heegaard W, Plummer D. End-tidal carbon dioxide monitoring during procedural sedation. *Acad Emerg Med.*

Apr 2002;9(4):275-280 (Prospective; 274 patients).

- Deitch K, Miner J, Chudnofsky CR, et al. Does End Tidal CO2 Monitoring During Emergency Department Procedural Sedation and Analgesia With Propofol Decrease the Incidence of Hypoxic Events? A Randomized, Controlled Trial. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2009;55(3):258-264 (Prospective, randomized, controlled; 220 patients).
- Stedman TL. Stedman's medical dictionary. 28th ed. Baltimore, Md.: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2006.
- 99. Kino A, Hirata S, Mishima S. The use of "laryngospasm notch" in two patients whose oxygen saturations dropped after tracheal extubation. *Masui*. Nov 2009;58(11):1430-1432 (Case series; 2 patients).
- Larson PC. Laryngospasm-The Best Treatment. Anesthesiology. 1998;89(5):1293-1294 (Editorial Letter).
- 101. Green SM, Kuppermann N, Rothrock SG, et al. Predictors of adverse events with intramuscular ketamine sedation in children. *Ann Emerg Med.* Jan 2000;35(1):35-42 (Retrospective, 1021 patients).
- 102. Wasterlain CG, Chen JWY. Mechanistic and pharmacologic aspects of status epilepticus and its treatment with new antiepileptic drugs. *Epilepsia*. 2008;49:63-73 (**Review**).
- Abend NS, Dlugos DJ. Treatment of Refractory Status Epilepticus: Literature Review and a Proposed Protocol. *Pediatric Neurology*. 2008;38(6):377-390 (Review).
- 104. Green SM, Coté CJ. Ketamine and Neurotoxicity: Clinical Perspectives and Implications for Emergency Medicine. Annals of Emergency Medicine. 2009;54(2):181-190 (Review).
- 105. Lahtinen P, Kokki H, Hakala T, et al. S(+)-Ketamine as an Analgesic Adjunct Reduces Opioid Consumption After Cardiac Surgery. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*. November 2004 2004;99(5):1295-1301 (Prospective, randomized, controlled; 1290 patients).
- 106. Pees C, Haas NA, Ewert P, et al. Comparison of Analgesic/ Sedative Effect of Racemic Ketamine and S(+)-Ketamine during Cardiac Catheterization in Newborns and Children. *Pediatric Cardiology*. 2003;24(5):424-429 (Prospective, randomized; 100 patients).
- 107. Newman DH, Azer MM, Pitetti RD, et al. When is a patient safe for discharge after procedural sedation? The timing of adverse effect events in 1,367 pediatric procedural sedations. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2003;42(5):627-635 (Prospective; 1367 patients).
- Anand K S, Hall, R W. Pharmacological therapy for analgesia and sedation in the newborn. *Arch. Dis. Child.* Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2006;91;448-453

### **CME Questions**



Current subscribers receive CME credit absolutely free by completing the following test. Monthly online testing is now available for current and archived issues. Visit <u>http://www.ebmedicine.net/CME</u> today to receive your free CME credits. Each issue includes *4 AMA PRA Category 1 Credits<sup>TM</sup>*, 4 ACEP Category 1 credits, 4 AAP Prescribed credits, and 4 AOA category 2A or 2B credits.

- 1. Which of the following is NOT one of the side effects associated with ketamine:
  - a. Hypertension
  - b. Abdominal pain
  - c. Nystagmus
  - d. Increased salivary secretions

#### 2. The reversal agent for ketamine is:

- a. Flumazenil
- b. Naloxone
- c. Benadryl
- d. There is no reversal agent for ketamine
- 3. Which of these is true of IV ketamine versus IV fentanyl/Versed®?
  - a. IV ketamine requires a longer recovery than IV fentanyl/Versed®
  - b. IV ketamine causes more adverse respiratory events (desaturations) than IV fentanyl/Versed®
  - c. IV ketamine causes less emesis than IV fentanyl/Versed®
  - d. Parents were more satisfied with IV fentanyl/Versed® than they were with ketamine

#### 4. Which of the following procedures would ketamine be a POOR choice to use for sedation:

- a. Lumbar puncture
- b. Fracture reduction
- c. Abscess incision and drainage
- d. MRI scanning
- 5. Which agent when administered in conjunction with ketamine helps decrease the incidence of post sedation emesis?
  - a. Glycopyrrolate
  - b. Ondansetron
  - c. Promethazine
  - d. Morphine

- 6. Which of the below is an absolute contraindication for ketamine use:
  - a. Last PO liquids 4 hours earlier
  - b. Age < 18 months
  - c. Acute psychosis
  - d. History of vomiting after ketamine administration
- 7. One minute into the ketamine sedation of a 6-year-old patient you notice that his chest wall stops moving and his oxygen saturation starts to drop. According to the monitor, both blood pressure and heart rate are slightly elevated compared with baseline levels. What is causing his acute decompensation?
  - a. Monitor malfunction
  - b. Rigid chest syndrome
  - c. Laryngospasm
  - d. Anaphylaxis

# 8. Your immediate response to assist the patient in Question 6 should be to:

- a. Perform a jaw-thrust maneuver and begin positive-pressure ventilation with bag-valve-mask.
- b. Check the pulse oximeter on another extremity.
- c. Administer naloxone.
- d. Give IM epinephrine.

### **Physician CME Information**

- Date of Original Release: January 1, 2011. Date of most recent review: December 10, 2010. Termination date: January 1, 2014.
- Accreditation: EB Medicine is accredited by the ACCME to provide continuing medical education for physicians.
- **Credit Designation:** EB Medicine designates this educational activity for a maximum of *4 AMA PRA Category 1 Credits*<sup>™</sup>. Physicians should only claim credit commensurate with the extent of their participation in the activity.
- ACEP Accreditation: Pediatric Emergency Medicine Practice is also approved by the American College of Emergency Physicians for 48 hours of ACEP Category 1 credit per annual subscription.
- AAP Accreditation: This continuing medical education activity has been reviewed by the American Academy of Pediatrics and is acceptable for a maximum of 48 AAP credits per year. These credits can be applied toward the AAP CME/CPD Award available to Fellows and Candidate Fellows of the American Academy of Pediatrics.
- AOA Accreditation: Pediatric Emergency Medicine Practice is eligible for up to 48 American Osteopathic Association Category 2A or 2B credit hours per year.
- Needs Assessment: The need for this educational activity was determined by a survey of medical staff, including the editorial board of this publication; review of morbidity and mortality data from the CDC, AHA, NCHS, and ACEP; and evaluation of prior activities for emergency physicians.
- Target Audience: This enduring material is designed for emergency medicine physicians, physician assistants, nurse practitioners, and residents.
- Goals & Objectives: Upon reading *Pediatric Emergency Medicine Practice*, you should be able to: (1) demonstrate medical decision-making based on the strongest clinical evidence; (2) cost-effectively diagnose and treat the most critical ED presentations; and (3) describe the most common medicolegal pitfalls for each topic covered.
- Discussion of Investigational Information: As part of the newsletter, faculty may be presenting investigational information about pharmaceutical products that is outside Food and Drug Administration approved labeling. Information presented as part of this activity is intended solely as continuing medical education and is not intended to promote off-label use of any pharmaceutical product.
- Faculty Disclosure: It is the policy of EB Medicine to ensure objectivity, balance, independence, transparency, and scientific rigor in all CME-sponsored educational activities. All faculty participating in the planning or implementation of a sponsored activity are expected to disclose to the audience any relevant financial relationships and to assist in resolving any conflict of interest that may arise from the relationship. Presenters must also make a meaningful disclosure to the audience of their discussions of unlabeled or unapproved drugs or devices. In compliance with all ACCME Essentials, Standards, and Guidelines, all faculty for this CME activity were asked to complete a full disclosure statement. The information received is as follows: Dr. Madati, Dr. Krauss, Dr. Luhmann, Dr. Sachetti, and their related parties report no significant financial interest or other relationship with the manufacturer(s) of any commercial product(s) discussed in this educational presentation.
- Hardware/Software Requirements: You will need a Macintosh or PC with internet capabilities to access the website. Adobe Reader is required to download archived articles.
- Additional Policies: For additional policies, including our statement of conflict of interest, source of funding, statement of informed consent, and statement of human and animal rights, visit <u>http://www.ebmedicine.net/policies</u>.

#### Method of Participation:

- Print Subscription Semester Program: Paid subscribers who read all CME articles during each *Pediatric Emergency Medicine Practice* six-month testing period, complete the post-test and the CME Evaluation Form distributed with the June and December issues, and return it according to the published instructions are eligible for up to 4 hours of CME credit for each issue. You must complete both the post-test and CME Evaluation Form to receive credit. Results will be kept confidential.
- Online Single-Issue Program: Current, paid subscribers who read this *Pediatric Emergency Medicine Practice* CME article and complete the online post-test and CME Evaluation Form at <u>ebmedicine.net/CME</u> are eligible for up to 4 hours of Category 1 credit toward the AMA Physician's Recognition Award (PRA). You must complete both the post-test and CME Evaluation Form to receive credit. Results will be kept confidential.

#### **Coming In Future Issues**

#### Assessment and Management Of Acute Bronchiolitis In The Emergency Department

This issue of *Pediatric Emergency Medicine Practice* will focus on the challenges of effective evaluation and treatment of pediatric patients with bronchiolitis using evidence-based medicine. While excellent published guidelines do exist to help clinicians to address this common disease, they exclude the "high risk" group for severe bronchiolitis who are at risk for serious complications such as apnea and the need for ventilatory support. Particularly helpful in this area is the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) Subcommittee on Diagnosis and Management of Bronchiolitis. Novel treatment for acute bronchiolitis such as nebulized hypertonic saline, heliox, and the use for nasal continuous positive airway pressure will be discussed in this article.

#### In This Month's Emergency Medicine Practice

#### An Evidence-Based Approach To Managing The Anticoagu lated Patient in The Emergency Department by Dennis Hanlon, MD, FAAEM Vice Chairman of Emergency Medicine; Associate Professor of Emergency Medicine, Drexel University College of Medicine, Allegheny General Hospital, Pittsburgh, PA

You start another busy shift with a double row of charts waiting to be seen. Your first patient is an elderly man who fell an hour prior to presentation. He did not lose consciousness, but he was dazed for a few minutes. He complains of a mild headache but denies any neck pain. He takes warfarin for valvular heart dis ease. He looks good and has no focal neurological complaints. His mental status is normal, he has a negative head CT scan, and his INR is 3.9 His family wants to take him home, which would help relieve some of the congestion in the ED, but you wonder what would be best. To observe and repeat imaging? Reverse his anticoagulation? Change his dosing regimen of war farin?

In the next room, you quickly evaluate a 51-year-old obese woman with nonspecific back and abdominal pain that started 24 hours before and has slowly progressed to become intoler able. She denies fever, chills, nausea, or vomiting. She is on the last day of a 5-day course of ciprofloxacin for a UTI. She takes warfarin for a pulmonary embolus that occurred 2 months prior. Her hematocrit is mildly decreased, and her white blood count is normal; however, the INR is 6.8. You wonder if her abdominal pain is related to the UTI or if it could be somehow related to the prolonged INR. In fact, you wonder why her INR is so prolonged . . .

This issue of *Emergency Medicine Practice* focuses on the challenge of evaluating and managing the anticoagulated patient using the best available evidence from the literature. The main complication of this therapy is hemorrhage which can be life-threatening, depending on its location. This issue also addresses the patient taking antithrombotic or antiplatelet agents and includes discussions of prothrombin complex concentrates and the off-label use of recombinant Factor VII (rFVII).

Emergency Medicine Practice subscribers: Access this article at no charge at www.ebmedicine.net/emp

**Non subscribers:** Purchase this article with CME at www.ebmedicine.net/anticoagulation

Associate Editor & CME Director: Jennifer Pai Associate Editor: Dorothy Whisenhunt Marketing & Customer Service Coordinator: Robin Williford			
Direct all questions to: EB Medicine 1-800-249-5770 Outside the U.S.: 1-678-366-7933 Fax: 1-678-366-7933 5550 Triangle Parkway, Suite 150 Norcross, GA 30092 E-mail: ebm@ebmedicine.net Web Site: EBMedicine.net To write a letter to the editor, email: JagodaMD@ebmedicine.net	Subscription Information:       1 year (12 issues) including evidence-based print issues;       48 AMA PRA Category 1 Credits™, 48 ACEP Category 1 Credits, 48 AAP       Prescribed credits, and 48 AOA Category 2A or 2B credit; and full online access to searchable archives and additional free CME: \$299       (Call 1-800-249-5770 or go to www.ebmedicine.net/subscribe to order)       Single issues with CME may be purchased at www.ebmedicine.net/PEMPissues		

CEO: Debort Williford President & Bublisher: Stanbaris has Director of Member Convision Liz Ab

Pediatric Emergency Medicine Practice (ISSN Print: 1549-9660, ISSN Online: 1549-9669) is published monthly (12 times per year) by EB Practice, LLC. 5550 Triangle Parkway, Suite 150, Norcross, GA 30092. Opinions expressed are not necessarily those of this publication. Mention of products or services does not constitute endorsement. This publication is intended as a general guide and is intended to supplement, rather than substitute, professional judgment. It covers a highly technical and complex subject and should not be used for making specific medical decisions. The materials contained herein are not intended to establish policy, procedure, or standard of care. Pediatric Emergency Medicine Practice is a trademark of EB Practice, LLC. Copyright © 2010 EB Practice, LLC. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any format without written consent of EB Practice, LLC. This publication is intended for the use of the individual subscriber only, and may not be copied in whole or in part or redistributed in any way without the publisher's prior written permission – including reproduction for educational purposes or for internal distribution within a hospital, library, group practice, or other entity.

ERROR: undefinedresource OFFENDING COMMAND: findresource

STACK:

/DefaultColorRendering /ColorRendering /DefaultColorRendering